RECEIVED

Aug 10 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2026-001115

Pawnee Leasing Corporation.....Respondent,

v.

Omega Laser & Skin Care, LLC, and Anacorita Ellisor.....Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Luke A. Burke
Burke Law, LLC
Post Office Box 378
Greer, South Carolina 29652
(864) 735-8289

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BEFORE APPELLANTS RECEIVED A FULL AND FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO COMPLETE DISCOVERY.
2. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WITHOUT REQUIRING PROOF OF THE SECURED PROPERTY'S VALUE.
3. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED BY GRANTING RESPONDENT A WINDFALL RECOVERY BY ALLOWING RESPONDENT TO RETAIN THE REPOSSED COLLATERAL WHILE ALSO RECEIVING FULL MONETARY VALUE FOR THE SECURED DEBT.
4. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT TO BE DETERMINED.
5. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED BY GRANTING RESPONDENT ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS WITHOUT DETERMINING THE REASONABLENESS OF OR ALLOWING APPELLANTS TO CONTEST THE REASONABLENESS OR AMOUNT OF SAME.

SUMMARY OF FACTS

On or around September 8, 2021, Omega Laser & Skin Care, LLC ("Omega") executed an equipment finance agreement ("EFA") with Tandem Finance Inc. ("Tandem") to obtain financing for the purchase of certain equipment: (1) a Spectrum Laser System and accessories, (2) a BodyTone, and (3) an UltraLight LED System ("Collateral"). (Comp. p. 1 ¶ 3; MSJ Ex. I).¹ The initial amount financed was \$71,595. (MSJ Ex. IV). The EFA granted Tandem a first priority security interest in the Collateral. (MSJ Ex. I p. 2 ¶ 4). On September 9, 2021, Tandem assigned the EFA to Pawnee Leasing Corporation ("Respondent"). (Comp. p. 2 ¶ 5; MSJ Ex. I p. 6). On

¹ Respondent asserts that the owner of Omega, Anacorita Ellisor ("Ellisor") also executed a guarantee of the EFA on this date; however, Appellants deny this assertion. (Comp. p. 1 ¶ 3; Def. Resp to RFA p. 1 ¶ 3; Def. Supp. Resp. to RFA p. 2 ¶ 3).

September 10, 2021, a UCC Financing Statement was filed listing Omega as the debtor. (MSJ Ex. II).

Between October 1, 2021, and June 28, 2024, Omega paid \$37,294.96 towards the amount financed;² however, it fell behind in making its required payments. (Pl. RFA Ex. IV). On or around August 1, 2024, Respondent repossessed the Collateral. (Pl. RFA Ex. III). On September 6, 2024, Tandem created a payoff quotation asserting that \$66,372.10 was still due and owing on the account. (Pl. RFA Ex. III). No credit for the value of the Collateral appears on this payoff quotation. (Pl. RFA Ex. III).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 19, 2025, Respondent initiated this case by filing a summons and complaint. (Summons p. 1; Comp. p. 1). On June 6, 2025, Appellants filed their answer. (Ans. p. 1).

On January 13, 2026, Respondent filed a motion for summary judgment. (MSJ p. 1). On March 2, 2026, an order granting Appellants motion for substitution of counsel was filed. (Order p. 1). On March 4, 2026, Appellants served their first set of interrogatories and requests for production on Respondent. (Memo in Opp. Ex. A p. 10).

On March 5, 2026, a hearing of Respondent's motion for summary judgment was held before the Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr. (Order of Judgment p. 1). On March 13, 2026, an order of judgment ("Order") was filed granting Respondent's motion and entering judgment against Appellants in the amount of \$100,547.52. (Order of Judgment p. 3).

² On January 31, 2025, Omega paid an additional \$4,500 towards the amount financed after the Collateral was repossessed. (Pl. RFA Ex. IV).

On March 20, 2026, Appellants filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment. (MTR p. 1). On April 15, 2026, an order was filed denying Appellants' motion. On May 11, 2026, Appellants filed its notice of appeal. (NOA).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the reviewing court applies the same standard as the circuit court. Byrd v. City of Hartsville, 365 S.C. 650, 656, 620 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2005). “[A] moving party is entitled to summary judgment ‘if the [evidence before the court] show[s] that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.’” Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman, 440 S.C. 456, 459, 892 S.E.2d 297, 299 (2023) (alterations in original) (quoting Rule 56(c), SCRPC). The court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences taken from it in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Osborne v. Adams, 346 S.C. 4, 7, 550 S.E.2d 319, 321 (2001).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BEFORE DEFENDANTS RECEIVED A FULL AND FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO COMPLETE DISCOVERY.

South Carolina’s policy favors “disposition of issues on their merits rather than on technicalities.” See Micronics Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue, 345 S.C. 506, 511, 548 S.E.2d 223, 226 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing Columbia Pools v. Galvin, 288 S.C. 59, 339 S.E.2d 524 (Ct. App. 1986)). “Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery.” Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003). Cross examination is the “greatest legal engine ever invented for the discovery of truth.” Cal v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 158 n.11 (1970) (quoting 5 Wigmore § 1367).

Appellants have not had a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery. They filed their answer to close pleading on June 6, 2025, (Ans. p. 1), which was only six months prior to Respondent filing its motion for summary judgment on January 13, 2026 (MSJ p. 1). Upon receipt of the motion, Appellants immediately sought a new attorney, who was substituted as counsel on March 2, 2026. (Order Sub.). Upon being substituted as counsel, Appellants' new attorney immediately started the discovery process. (Memo in Opp. Ex. A p. 10). Respondent did not respond to these discovery requests prior to the motion hearing.

Appellants do not have access to Respondent's accounting records. As such, Appellants have not had the opportunity to challenge the accuracy of these records. Even if Appellants completely failed to answer the complaint and defaulted, they would have an opportunity to cross examine witnesses at a damages hearing and would be able to investigate and challenge the accuracy of Respondent's records. See Howard v. Holiday, 271 S.C. 238, 241, 246 S.E.2d 880, 882 (1978). Even if the witness believes he is telling the truth, those questions could prompt him to reconsider his testimony or see the accuracy of his records in a different light.

Here, however, even though Appellants engaged in the case by answering the pleadings and responding to discovery requests, summary judgment was granted based on Respondent's affidavit without any opportunity to cross examine or question the accuracy of that document. If the trial court's order is allowed to stand, it means it would be more beneficial for a defendant to refuse to answer and force a damages hearing rather than engage in the judicial process.

Further, there was no opportunity for the affiant to respond to the issues raised by Appellants. Was the amount owed reduced by the value of the Collateral? Where is that adjustment shown on the account statement? How have there been \$41,794.96 in payments towards a debt and

that debt has only been reduced by \$5,222.90? It is problematic to grant positive relief to a plaintiff on summary judgment where there are unanswered cross-examination questions like these. The other material facts in contention in this case are reason enough to reverse the court's decision; however, the lack of responses in the record to these fundamental cross-examination questions are themselves genuine material facts justifying reversal. This is especially true where a defendant has not had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery.

Therefore, Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the judgment of the circuit court.

II. THE COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WITHOUT REQUIRING PROOF OF THE SECURED PROPERTY'S VALUE.

“[T]he debtor is entitled to a rebuttable presumption the collateral was worth the indebtedness.” Matthias v. Hicks, 294 S.C. 305, 308, 363 S.E.2d 914, 916 (Ct. App. 1987). “It is the burden of the secured party to overcome the presumption by evidence that the value of the collateral was less than the debt.” Id. “Only if the creditor rebuts the presumption may he maintain the action for the deficiency.” Id.

Respondent repossessed the Collateral securing the debt. However, Respondent offered no evidence as to the value of that Collateral. Respondent did not present any evidence that it resold or attempted to resell the Collateral nor did Respondent present an appraisal of the Collateral or any other indication of value.

The only evidence Respondent presented that referred to the value of the Collateral is the conclusory statement that “the Payoff Quotation . . . accurately reflects the full charges and credits for the equipment, including credit for the recovered Collateral . . .” (Aff. in Supp. p. 2). However, neither the Payoff Quotation, (Pl. RFA Ex. III), nor Respondent's accounting records, (Pl. RFA

Ex. IV) show any credit amount for the repossessed Collateral. Further, even if a credit was listed, Respondent has provided no explanation or evidence regarding how Respondent determined the value of that credit.

The burden is on Respondent to overcome the presumption by evidence that the value of the Collateral was less than the debt owed. Respondent has not provided any evidence regarding the value of the Collateral. As such, Respondent has not met its burden and Appellants are entitled to the presumption that the value of the Collateral was at least equal to the amount of debt.

Therefore, Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the judgment of the circuit court.

III. THE COURT ERRED BY GRANTING RESPONDENT A WINDFALL RECOVERY BY ALLOWING RESPONDENT TO RETAIN THE REPOSSED COLLATERAL WHILE ALSO RECEIVING FULL MONETARY VALUE FOR THE SECURED DEBT.

“The law's refusal to allow a double recovery is fundamental.” Gipson v. Coffey & McKenzie, P.A., 445 S.C. 395, 399, 914 S.E.2d 842, 844 (2025) (citing Riley v. Ford Motor Co., 414 S.C. 185, 195, 777 S.E.2d 824, 830 (2015); Hawkins v. Hatton, 10 S.C.L. (1 Nott & McC.) 318, 319 (1818) (“It is unreasonable, that a party should have more than one satisfaction for the same injury....”)). A trial judge may invoke this basic common law rule to ensure the verdict amount comports with the plaintiff's actual loss. Id.

On September 8, 2021, purchased the Collateral for \$71,595. (MSJ Ex. IV). On August 1, 2024, less than three years later, Respondent repossessed the Collateral. (Pl. RFA Ex. III). As stated in Section II, *supra*, Respondent has not presented any evidence indicating the value of the repossessed Collateral; however, the equipment must have some value after only three years in Appellants’ possession. Further, this fact is supported by Respondent continuing to charge

Appellants for maintaining property insurance on the Collateral until it was repossessed. (MSJ Ex. I p. 3 ¶ 9; Pl. RFA Ex. IV). Finally, there is no indication of any deduction in the amount owed to offset the value of the Collateral in Respondent's payment records. (Pl. RFA Ex. IV).

If Respondent is granted full judgment against Appellants while also being allowed to retain the repossessed Collateral, then Respondent has received an impermissible double recovery: both the value of the Collateral and the Collateral itself.

Therefore, Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the judgment of the circuit court.

IV. THE COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT TO BE DETERMINED.

“When determining whether triable issues of fact exist, all evidence and inferences drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” Belton v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 360 S.C. 575, 578, 602 S.E.2d 389, 391 (2004). “[A] moving party is entitled to summary judgment ‘if the [evidence before the court] show[s] that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.’” Kitchen Planners, 440 S.C. at 459, 892 S.E.2d at 299 (alterations in original) (quoting Rule 56(c), SCRPC).

When the evidence presented at the motion for summary judgment is viewed in the light most favorable to Appellants, there are four genuine issues of material fact that remain triable: the value of the Collateral, whether the value of the Collateral was credited against the debt, the accuracy of Respondent's accounting records, and whether the guaranty was actually digitally signed by Appellant Ellisor.

First, it is necessary to determine the value of the Collateral to overcome the presumption that the value of the Collateral is less than the debt owed. See Matthias, 294 S.C. at 308, 363 S.E.2d

at 916. The burden is on Respondent to overcome this presumption. Here, no evidence has been presented regarding the value of the Collateral. As such, when the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to Appellants, the value of the Collateral must be presumed to be at least as much as the debt and the debt determined satisfied by the repossession.

Second, there was contradictory evidence presented regarding whether the value of the Collateral was credited against the debt. Respondent's affidavit contained the conclusory statement that the payoff quotation included a credit for the value of the Collateral. (Aff. in Supp. p. 2). However, neither the Payoff Quotation, (Pl. RFA Ex. III), nor Respondent's accounting records, (Pl. RFA Ex. IV) show any credit amount for the repossessed Collateral. As such, when the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to Appellants, it should be determined that the payoff amount did not include a credit for the repossessed Collateral.

Third, no evidence was presented regarding how Respondent determined the payoff amount based on the payment history. Appellants paid \$41,794.96 towards an initial debt of \$71,595; however, that debt was only reduced by \$5,222.90 on the payoff amount. Further, Appellants were unable to cross-examine Respondent's representative regarding how the payoff amount was determined or the accuracy of the payment history. As such, when the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to Appellants, it should be determined that the payoff amount does not accurately reflect the actual payments towards the debt.

Finally, Respondent alleges that Appellant Ellisor signed to guaranty the debt in her personal capacity. (Comp. p. 1 ¶ 3). Appellants deny Ellisor signed the guaranty. (Def. Resp. RFA p. 1 ¶¶ 1, 3; Def. Supp. Resp. RFA pp. 1-2 ¶¶ 1, 3). The agreement and guaranty are electronically signed documents with signatures generated by the DocuSign software. (MSJ Ex. I). No evidence

was presented from the metadata of the DocuSign envelope to show when the document was signed or by whom.

The trial court found that the signature on the agreement was identical to the signature on the guaranty. (Order p. 2). Obviously, to the human eye these signatures are identical because they are not actual signatures – rather, they are digital signatures created by the DocuSign software based on the name typed into the software. The only evidence of when the document was electronically signed and by whom is to analyze the metadata of the DocuSign envelope, which was not presented to the court. As such, there continues to be a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Appellant Ellisor signed the guaranty.

Therefore, Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the judgment of the circuit court.

V. THE COURT ERRED BY GRANTING RESPONDENT ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS WITHOUT DETERMINING THE REASONABLENESS OF THE FEES OR ALLOWING APPELLANTS TO CONTEST THE REASONABLENESS OR AMOUNT OF SAME.

Under South Carolina law, attorney's fees are not recoverable unless authorized by contract or statute. Baron Data Systems, Inc. v. Loter, 297 S.C. 382, 383, 377 S.E.2d 296, 297 (1989). When the recovery of attorney's fees is authorized by contract, the award of attorney's fees “is left to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” Id. at 384.

Once a basis for an award is established, to evaluate a request for attorney's fees and expenses, the court must consider the following factors when determining an award of attorney's fees: (1) the nature, extent, and difficulty of the legal services rendered; (2) time and labor devoted to the case; (3) professional standing of counsel; (4) contingency of compensation; (5) fee

customarily charged in the locality for similar services; and (6) beneficial results obtained. See Blumberg v. Nealco, Inc., 310 S.C. 492, 494, 427 S.E.2d 659, 660 (1993) (citing Collins v. Collins, 239 S.C. 170, 122 S.E.2d 1 (1961)). All six factors should be given consideration in determining whether an award of attorney's fees is reasonable, and no single factor is controlling. Baron, 297 S.C. at 384, 377 S.E.2d at 297. Further, “[t]he trial court should make specific findings of fact on the record for each of these factors.” Burton v. York County Sheriff's Dep't, 358 S.C. 339, 358, 594 S.E.2d 888, 898 (Ct. App. 2004). On appeal an award of attorney's fees will be affirmed so long as sufficient evidence in the record supports each factor. Blumberg, 310 S.C. at 494, 427 S.E.2d at 660.

Here, Appellants are not in default. Even if they were in default, they would still be entitled to object and challenge the reasonableness of Respondent's attorney's fees by cross examination. Rule 55(b)(3) SCRCPP; see also Howard, 271 S.C. at 241, 246 S.E.2d at 882 (1978), Buist v. Buist, 410 S.C. 569, 766 S.E.2d 381 (2014). However, Appellants were not even aware of the amount of attorney's fees until they were submitted by affidavit *after the hearing*. (Atty. Fee Aff.). Appellants raised their objection to the award of attorney's fees in their post-trial motion, (MTR p. 3); however no opportunity to challenge the amount of attorney's fees was allowed by the court.

Further, the trial court did not consider any of the factors above in determining the amount of attorney's fees to award to Respondent. There is no finding in the court's order regarding the nature, extent, and difficulty of the legal services rendered; time and labor devoted to the case; professional standing of counsel; (4) contingency of compensation; fee customarily charged in the locality for similar services; or beneficial results obtained. The court simply accepted Respondent's unchallenged attorney fee affidavit as fact without any scrutiny. As such, the award

of attorney's fees should be overturned. See Burton, 358 S.C. at 358, 594 S.E.2d at 898; see also Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987) ("When the trial judge is vested with discretion, but his ruling reveals no discretion was, in fact, exercised, an error of law has occurred.").

Finally, to the extent this Court reverses the trial court on any of the issues stated above, the Court should also reverse and remand the issue of attorney's fees and costs for consideration in light of the change in beneficial results obtained. See Jackson v. Speed, 326 S.C. 289, 308, 486 S.E.2d 750, 760 (1997).

Therefore, Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the judgment of the circuit court.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the judgment of the circuit court.