RECEIVED
Sep 09 2026
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G. D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2026-001115

Pawnee Leasing CorporationRespondent,

v.

Omega Laser & Skin Care, LLC, and Anacorita Ellisor..... Appellants.

[INITIAL] BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Thomas W. Bunch, II
Bunch Law LLC
1120 Summerwind Lane
Johns Island, South Carolina 29455
803-665-8900
tbunch@bunchlawllc.com
Counsel for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

1. APPELLANTS FAILED TO CREATE A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT IN OPPOSITION TO RESPONDENT'S SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION, AND THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENT.

Rule 56(c), SCRCR, provides, in part, “The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.”

At their Argument IV, Appellants assert that there are four issues of material fact and those alleged issues shall be addressed herein:

a. **Value of collateral.** Appellants inaccurately describe the underlying case as a recovery of a deficiency judgment. They further inaccurately state that Respondent repossessed all collateral in which Respondent held a security interest. This case is a simple collection action after Respondent recovered only a portion of the collateral, and Appellants retained the other collateral. The Affidavit of Kenny Fitzgerald filed in support of Pawnee's summary judgment motion states that Pawnee recovered possession of a part of the financed equipment. (Aff. p. 2) The Order for Judgment states that “[Pawnee] recovered possession of a portion of the collateral for which Defendants were given credit.” (Order, pp. 1-2. The Order further provided that the Payoff Quotation “itemized the balance remaining due under the EFA after providing all credits due, including credit for the return of the collateral.” *Id.*, p. 2. It should be noted that Appellants did not plead any defense related to the value of collateral in their Answer to the Complaint or the disposition of the portion thereof recovered by Pawnee. Given the record before the lower Court,

it is respectfully submitted that Pawnee accounted for the value of the collateral it was able to secure and that Appellants received full credit for this portion of the collateral.

b. **Value of Collateral credited against Appellants' debt.** Appellants assert that there is an issue of fact whether the value of the collateral was credited to against the debt. They point to alleged inconsistencies in the Payoff Quotation and the Payment History. The Payment History is just that - a history of payments made on the EFA. It is not a statement of account, not a statement of all financial transactions associated with the EFA. It would not reflect other transactions such as gains or losses after the recovery of a portion of the Collateral. Likewise, the Payoff Quotation would not reflect such transactions. It provides an amount for the "Remaining Balance," an itemization of miscellaneous charges that are due, and an entry for a Termination Fee as provided for in the EFA. The fact that the "Remaining Balance" does not itemize how it was calculated coupled with Mr. Fitzgerald's Affidavit that all credits were applied to the debt does not create a genuine issue of material fact. It should be noted that Appellants did not plead any defense related to crediting the value of collateral to their debt in their Answer to the Complaint. Appellants simply denied the amount of the debt and rested on that allegation in response to the summary judgment motion. Given the record before the lower Court, it is respectfully submitted that Pawnee properly credited the value of the collateral it was able to secure to Appellants' debt.

c. **Evidence of how Pawnee determined the payoff amount.** Appellants argue that Respondent should have presented additional evidence regarding the calculation of the payoff amount based on the Payment History Pawnee provided to the Court. Respondent provided a Payoff Quotation as an Exhibit to the verified Complaint. Respondent provided the Payoff Quotation as an exhibit to Mr. Fitzgerald's Affidavit filed with the Motion for Summary Judgment. Appellants are fully cognizant of the payments they made on the EFA and Guaranty. The payment

history does not include calculations for interest (24% per annum contractual rate) or late charges (15% of the delinquent payment), or other expenses associated with the EFA. (EFA, paras. 6 and 11 attached as exhibit to Complaint and Fitzgerald Affidavit) The Pay History is simply one component of the calculation of the amount owed to Pawnee by Appellants. The Payoff Quotation considers all factors and sets forth the amount owed by Appellants as stated in Mr. Fitzgerald's Affidavit. Further, at no time have Appellants presented any evidence that the Pay History and Payoff Quotation are inaccurate. Belatedly, at the hearing on the summary judgment motion, they argued without any support that Respondent should provide additional evidence of how the amount owed was calculated in light of the Pay History. That *argument* simply does not create a genuine issue of material fact.

d. Signature of personal guarantor. Appellants assert that there was genuine issue of material fact whether Appellant Anacorita Ellisor signed the Guaranty. However, she actually admitted signing it in Defendants' Supplemental Responses to Plaintiff's First Requests for Admissions.

1. That, with reference to the Tandem Finance Inc. Equipment Finance Agreement (hereinafter, "Agreement") dated September 8th, 2021, consisting of Four (4) pages, attached to Plaintiff's Complaint and also attached hereto as Exhibit I, the true signature of Anacorita Ellisor is contained thereon both on behalf of Omega Laser & Skin Care, LLC, and individually as Personal Guarantor. If you deny any or all of this paragraph, please specify in detail and in what respect.

RESPONSE: Denied as stated.

SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE: Admitted, upon information and belief.

Based on the admission by all Appellants, there is no genuine issue of material fact. Appellant Ellisor signed the Guaranty.

2. A NON-MOVING PARTY ON A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT MAY NOT REST UPON ALLEGATIONS AND DENIALS IN HIS PLEADINGS TO SHOW THAT THERE IS A GENUINE ISSUE FOR TRIAL.

Rule 56(e), SCRCR, provides that:

. . . an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him.

Respondent Pawnee filed its Motion for Summary Judgment almost 11 months after commencement of the case accompanied by the Affidavit of Kenny Fitzgerald. The affidavit recited the existence of the Equipment Finance Agreement (“EFA”) signed by the Respondents, that the lender (Tandem Finance Inc). had assigned the EFA to Pawnee, that as a result of Defendants’ default in payment to Pawnee that Pawnee recovered part of the financed equipment, and that the Payoff Quotation attached as Exhibit III to the affidavit accurately reflected the full charges and credits for the purchase of the equipment with an amount owed of \$66,372.10.

Juxtaposed against Pawnee’s verified Complaint and affidavit filed with its summary judgment motion; Appellants did not file any affidavits or other evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact. Instead, they simply relied upon (1) an unverified Answer that did nothing more than deny the allegations of the Complaint, and (2) an unverified memorandum prepared by their counsel admitting that Appellants had failed to engage in discovery for a year after the case was filed and alleging that the amount claimed by Pawnee was in question and that Pawnee had failed to properly account for the part of the financed equipment which Pawnee did recover.

When a summary judgment motion is made and supported by an affidavit, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, which show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact – which Pawnee did – the moving party is “entitled to judgment as a matter of

law.” Rule 56(c), SCRPC. The non-moving party must oppose the motion by affidavits, deposition testimony, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file which set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. Rule 56(e), SCRPC. In this case, Appellants did not file an affidavit, nor deposition testimony, nor answers to interrogatories, nor admissions of any nature. They simply did not create an evidentiary record to enable the trial court to deny the summary judgment motion.

In *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E.2d 433 (2003), the South Carolina Supreme Court found that even in a case where the non-moving party had filed affidavits opposing summary judgment, the Court held that the non-moving party had failed to present any “specific facts” establishing a genuine issue for trial. Here, Appellants established no facts since they failed to file any evidence in opposition to the well-grounded summary judgment motion.

Quoting *Humana Hosp.-Bayside v. Lightle*, 305 S.C. 214, 216, 407 S.E.2d 637, 638 (1991), *Dawkins* held, “Where a plaintiff relies solely upon the pleadings, files no counter-affidavits, and makes no factual showing in opposition to a motion for summary judgment, the lower court is required under Rule 56, to grant summary judgment, if, under the facts presented by the defendant, he was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Likewise, “... summary judgement is completely appropriate when a properly supported motion sets forth facts that ... are contested in a deficient manner.” *David v. McLeod Reg’l Med. Ctr.*, 237, S.C. 242, 250, 626 S.E.2d 1, 5 (2006).

It is respectfully submitted that based upon the record before it, the trial court was “required under Rule 56” to enter judgment in favor of Respondent and properly did so.

3. A NON-MOVING PARTY MAY NOT DELAY A YEAR INTO THE CASE BEFORE SERVING DISCOVERY AND OPPOSE A SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION ON THE BASIS THAT IT DID NOT HAVE A FULL AND FAIR OPORTUNITY TO CONDUCT DISCOVERY.

The day before the hearing on Respondent's summary judgment motion and a year into the case Appellants' served their first set of interrogatories and their first set of requests for production of documents. Incredulously, Appellants point out that Respondent did not answer the discovery within a day and argue that they did not have a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery before summary judgment was granted against them. (App. Brief, p.4).

Appellants offer no good reason why a year is not sufficient time to tend to discovery that might (or might not) be useful in opposing summary judgment. They postulate various unfounded theories that discovery might shed light upon. Further, Appellants made no motion to continue the summary judgment hearing.

In *Middleborough Horizontal Property Regime Council of Co-Owners v. Montedison S.p.A*, 320 S.C. 470, 465 S.E.2d 765 (Ct. App. 1995), this Court addressed a non-moving party's argument that it did not have a full and fair opportunity to engage in discovery.

The Regime commenced this action on October 26, 1992, and filed its motion for summary judgment on February 8, 1993. The motion was heard on June 14, 1993. Although, Montedison S.p.A contested personal jurisdiction, Montedison USA, Inc. did not. Montedison advances no good reason why four months was insufficient time under the facts of this case to develop documentation in opposition to the motion for summary judgment. The Regime's motion had been rescheduled on at least three previous occasions. Thus, Montedison could not have been caught by surprise. Further, the record discloses Montedison made no formal motion for a continuance or pointed out in any specific manner how it would be prejudiced by its inability to conduct discovery.

320 S.C. at 479-480, 465 S.E.2d 771-772.

See, also, Dawkins v. Fields, supra, affirming the granting of a summary judgment motion filed within four months of the Complaint being filed over the non-moving parties' objection that they did not have a full and fair opportunity for discovery.

Further, under Rule 56(f), SCRCP, if Appellants were unable to present affidavits or other evidence opposing summary judgment, they were obligated to submit an affidavit to the lower court that they could not for reasons stated in the affidavit present essential facts that would justify their opposition to the motion. Such an affidavit would permit the presiding judge to deny the motion or continue the hearing. Appellants did not submit such an affidavit. Appellants did not submit such an affidavit because there was no justifiable reason for them not to have engaged in discovery. They theorize that they might develop information which would preclude the grant of summary judgment, but they do not "... set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial." Rule 56(e), SCRCP.

4. A PARTY WHO FAILS TO CONTEST THE REASONABLENESS OF ATTORNEY'S FEES IN THE LOWER COURT, MAY NOT CONTEST THE REASONABLENESS OF THOSE FEES FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

The EFA and personal guaranty contain provisions for attorney's fees to be awarded to Pawnee enforcing its rights against Appellants upon their default. As to the Appellant personal guarantor: "You will reimburse us for all expenses we incur in enforcing our rights against Borrower or any of you, including without limitation, attorneys' fees and costs." As to the Appellant Omega: "You will owe all costs and expenses, including legal fees, collection expenses, collection fees or commissions, travel, or any other cost we incur enforcing our remedies."

Upon notification that the lower court had granted Pawnee's motion for summary judgment, Pawnee's trial counsel filed an affidavit of attorney's fees which addressed all of the six factors which the lower court should consider under *Blumberg v. Nealco, Inc.*, 307 S.C. 537, 416

S.E.2d 211 (Ct. App. 1992). The lower court filed its order on summary judgment awarding the legal fees set forth in Respondent's Affidavit of Attorney's fees.¹ Appellants filed their Motion to Alter or Amend stating that they had "no opportunity to contest" (emphasis added) the reasonableness of the fee award – neither the entitlement nor the amount. (Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment)

- As to entitlement to attorney's fees, given Appellants' default of their respective contractual obligations, the EFA and Guaranty expressly provided for payment of all expenses incurred by Pawnee including attorney's fees.
- As to reasonableness of the attorney's fees included in the judgment, Appellants never filed a motion or affidavit, nor requested a hearing to dispute the reasonableness of the attorney's fees Respondent presented to the lower court.² Instead, they simply complained that they did not have the opportunity to contest the reasonableness of the fees.

In their brief to this Court, Appellants raise for the first time that the amount of attorney's fees awarded to Pawnee may have been unreasonable. Number 5 of Appellants' Statement of Issues on Appeal states, "Whether the Court erred by granting Respondent attorney's fees and costs without determining the reasonableness of or allowing Appellants to contest the reasonableness or

¹ The lower court awarded fees of \$9,955.00 which amounted to 15% of the Payoff Quotation and 11% of the Payoff Quotation plus prejudgment interest, both percentages being less than the 25% contingency fee arrangement between Pawnee and its trial counsel as stated in the Affidavit of Attorney's Fees.

² 37 days passed between Respondent filing its affidavit of attorney's fees and the lower court's order denying Appellants' Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. Appellants had ample opportunity in the lower court to contest the contents of Respondent's affidavit and the reasonableness of the attorney's fees, but they failed to present any documentation which the court could consider or rule upon.

amount of same.” However, Appellants elected not to file a motion or affidavit with the lower court contesting the reasonableness of the fees awarded by the lower court.

In a similar case, *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 432, S.C. 267, 851 S.E.2d 724 (Ct. App. 2020) affirmed *Kitchen Planners v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 892 S.E.2d 297 (2023), this Court ruled that Kitchen Planners failed to preserve for review the reasonableness of attorney’s fees where it challenged the contents of the fee affidavit for the first time in its Rule 59(e) motion. Here, Appellants not only have failed to challenge the contents of the fee affidavit at any juncture of the case including at this Court, but they also improperly challenge the reasonableness of the fees for the first time at this Court. “It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.” *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529, S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000).

Respondent addressed by affidavit all six factors necessary for the lower court to properly award attorney’s fees. The contents of the affidavit are not addressed by Appellants - either at the lower court or to this Court. Appellants did not present any counter evidence as to the reasonableness of the attorney’s fees which were awarded. Reliance by Appellants on Rule 55, SCRCF, is misplaced as that Rule relates to Default Judgments. 37 days passed between Respondent’s submission of the attorney’s fee affidavit and the final order denying Appellants’ Motion to Alter or Amend; however, Appellants did not question the fee affidavit once.

“On appeal, absent sufficient evidentiary support on the record for each factor, the award should be reversed and the issue remanded for the trial court to make specific findings of fact.” *Blumberg v. Nealco, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 492, 494, 427 S.E.2d 659, 661 (1993). The lower court exercised its discretion in awarding attorney’s fees. It had evidentiary support for all six factors,

and it is respectfully submitted that the lower court's award of attorney's was proper and should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

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